

Northwest and Alaska Fisheries Center Processed Report

DYNAMICS OF POLLOCK AND HERRING BIOMASSES IN THE EASTERN BERING SEA

(An introductory study of fluctuations of pollock and herring stocks using preliminary 8-component Dynamic Numerical Marine Ecosystem Model)

by

T. Laevastu and F. Favorite Resource Ecology Task Resource Ecology and Fisheries Management Division

> U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Northwest and Alaska Fisheries Center 2725 Montlake Boulevard Seattle, Washington 98112

> > November 1976

NOTICE

This document is being made available in .PDF format for the convenience of users; however, the accuracy and correctness of the document can only be certified as was presented in the original hard copy format.

Inaccuracies in the OCR scanning process may influence text searches of the .PDF file. Light or faded ink in the original document may also affect the quality of the scanned document.

Northwest & Alaska Fisheries Center

Processed Report

DYNAMICS OF POLLOCK AND HERRING BIOMASSES IN EASTERN BERING SEA

(An introductory study of fluctuations of pollock and herring stocks using preliminary 8-component Dynamic Numerical Marine Ecosystem Model)

by

T. Laevastu and F. Favorite

Resource Ecology Task

Resource Ecology and Fisheries Management Division

U.S. Department of Commerce National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service 2725 Montlake Boulevard East Seattle, Washington 98112 November 1976



Contents

		Page	
	Abstract	1	
I.	The objectives of the numerical study	2	
II.	The model and its inputs	5	
III.	Long-term changes of pollock biomass in the eastern Bering Sea		
	and the effect of fishery on these changes	15	
IV.	Spatial distribution of pollock in the eastern Bering Sea as		
	affected by grazing and the fishery	24	
V.	Interactions between herring and pollock populations	38	
VI.	Summary	44	
VII.	References	50	

.

.

Table 1. Average composition of food for pollock and herring.

Table 2. Food coefficients for growth and maintenance.

Table 3. Bulk growth and mortality rates in % per month.

Table 4. Monthly growth rates in % per month for herring and pollock.

List of Figures

- Figure 1. Computation grid for the eastern Bering Sea.
- Figure 2. Relation between pollock growth (expressed as fork length) and feeding preferences (Takahashi and Yamaguchi, 1972).
- Figure 3. Changes of total biomass of pollock in the eastern Bering Sea (A. present fishing effort; B. 80% of present fishing effort; C. 50% of present fishing effort).
- Figure 4. Changes of juvenile pollock biomass in the eastern Bering Sea.
- Figure 5. Changes of medium size (25 to 45 cm) pollock biomass in the eastern Bering Sea.
- Figure 6. Changes of old pollock (>45 cm) biomass in the eastern Bering Sea.
- Figure 7. Catch of pollock in the eastern Bering Sea.
- Figure 8. Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 1st year (present fishing effort) (isopletes in ton/km²).
- Figure 9. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 1st year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 10. Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 5th year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 11. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 5th year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 12. Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (ton/km²).

Figure 13. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (ton/km²).

- Figure 14. Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 1st year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 15. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 1st year
 (present fishing effort)(ton/km²).
- Figure 16. Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 5th year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 17. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 5th year (present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 18. Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 19. Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (ton/km²).
- Figure 20. Changes of herring biomass in the eastern Bering Sea (A. present fishing effort on pollock, B. 80% of present fishing effort on pollock; C. 50% of present fishing effort on pollock).
- Figure 21. Herring distribution in December, 1st year (present fishing effort on pollock, initial biomass 1 million tons) (ton/km²).
- Figure 22. Herring distribution in January, 5th year (present fishing effort on pollock, initial biomass 1 million tons) (ton/km²).
- Figure 23. Herring distribution in January, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort on pollock, initial biomass 1 million tons) (ton/km²).

ABSTRACT

An 8-component submodel of a rather complete dynamic numerical marine ecosystem (DYNUMES) model was used to investigate some aspects of pollock and herring biomass dynamics in the eastern Bering Sea. Results indicate that cannibalism by older pollock is a major factor in biomass fluctuations and can induce long-term biomass cycles that are also affected by the fishery and consumption by mammals. The model shows that relatively intensive fishery on pollock, which removes older, more cannibalistic fish, is beneficial for pollock stock, and that the optimum annual pollock harvest is slightly above 1 million tons. This is the case with specified conditions and for the specified time period included in the present analysis. The pollock harvest in some years may increase or decrease depending upon the strength of year classes which is to say good or bad survival of pollock to recruitment size which may be a function of physical environmental factors as well as the mortality from cannibalism. Juvenile pollock, as well as herring and other forage fishes, suffer from low abundances of zooplankton and periods of low abundance of juvenile pollock markedly affects the grazing pressure on herring.

I. THE OBJECTIVES OF THE NUMERICAL STUDY

It has long been recognized that the productivity of any marine resource is a complex function of the synergism between species and stocks and their physical and biological environmental as well as intrastock (or intra-species) interactions. Ideally, production models for any species should consider the totality of these interactions. These ecological relationships are, however, extremely complex and difficult to describe, let alone quantify. Moreover, since most of the processes are beyond human control, the pragmatic necessity for resource management has resulted in the evolution of yield models developed around the one controllable source of mortality, the quantity and quality of fishing effort. The conventional models deal with single species and express yield principally in terms of the resultants of population increments (recruitment and growth) and decrements (natural and fishing mortality), with almost total disregard for the ecological processes which determine these population parameters.

Single species management models have provided and will continue to provide a basis for rational management decisions. Current and future decisions concerning marine resources, even for the management of single species, will require a basis for short and long term forecasts of yield which gets beyond the scope of the conventional single species models and requires a better understanding of the interaction of any species with its physical and biological environment. Furthermore, the scope of pressing marine resource management decisions has increased beyond considerations of fisheries alone and includes assessment of the effects of fishing not only on target species but on other animals in the community, including not only fishes but commercially important invertebrates, mammals and birds as well.

In the course of developing a Dynamical Numerical Marine Ecosystem (DYNUMES) model for the eastern Bering Sea, many relevant fisheries results (and/or outputs) were obtained with an 8-component ecosystem submodel. Although the model is far from complete, it is the most comprehensive and complex of its kind available anywhere, and provides insights into many of the interactive processes in the marine ecosystem, as well as, on the effects of a fishery on a given species as well as on ecologically (e.g., through predator-prey relations) related species. Results from the use of this model can serve as the basis for further research and verification with empirical data.

The three computer runs with this submodel, described in this report, were made specifically to study:

 The effects of different levels of fishing effort on pollock population.

2. The trophodynamic interactions within the pollock population as well as interaction with the herring population (as one of the prey items for pollock).

3. The mechanisms (interactions) causing long-term fluctuations in abundance of pollock.

4. The effects of grazing by mammals (seals, sea lions) and fishing on spatial distribution of pollock (and, partially, on herring).

Although the results of these computer runs are not quantitatively precise, they indicate a number of conditions and processes which could form important bases for decisions related to fisheries management.

The authors express their sincere thanks to Dr. F. Fukuhara, Dr. L. L. Low and Mr. J. Hastings for many valuable suggestions and discussions in the course of preparation of this report. Thanks are also due to Mrs. M. Gregory for typing of the report and to Ms. E. Zweifel for its reproduction.

II. THE MODEL AND ITS INPUTS

The 8-component submodel of the Dynamic Numerical Marine Ecosystem (DYNUMES) model (Laevastu, Favorite and McAlister, 1976) is a threedimensional ecosystem submodel for the eastern Bering Sea (see grid on Figure 1). The grid size is 95.25 km. The basic time step for advection functions is one week; in the trophodynamic subroutines the basic time step is one month.

The distribution and abundance of pollock and herring are prescribed for the first month-January. The pollock population size is the "minimum sustainable" within an 8-component model. As the submodel does not contain all organism groups which might graze upon pollock, the "minimum sustainable" population in this model is somewhat smaller than the real population in the Bering Sea. As the "minimum sustainable" herring population within the 8-component model for the eastern Bering Sea, 1 million tons was used in most runs. However, some runs with 1.5 million ton populations were also made and are reported in this paper. It should be noted that in this model (and in stomach analyses results in general) all fish included under herring are not necessarily all herring, and could include some capelin and/or smelt; but very little is known about the abundances of these two species in the Bering Sea.

The pollock biomass (population) is divided into three age (size) groups: group 1 is assumed to consist of prefishery juveniles (<25 cm length, <3 years; initial allocation 40.5% of total biomass); group 2 is assumed to consist of pollock 25 to 45 cm in length (ca 3 to 5 years; initial allocation 41.5% of total biomass); group 3 consists of older pollock >45 cm in length (>5 years; initial allocation 18% of total biomass). This division is somewhat arbitrary, as the actual





quantities (biomass proportions in each age group) are not known and are derived using an indirect iterative procedure. Therefore, an initial adjustment is necessary in the model and takes place within the first year's computation. The herring population (biomass) is computed as one (all ages) group.

An average composition of food is assigned to each size group of pollock (Table 1). The change of food composition with age is one of the bases for the division of pollock into size groups (Figure 2), but the cannibalism programmed in the model is considerably less than that indicated by Takahashi and Yamaguchi (1972) (compare Figure 2 and Table 1). The effects of cannibalism on the dynamics of the pollock population are rather profound, but data on the spatial and temporal variation of cannibalism in pollock are scarce. Therefore, it was decided to model these effects with somewhat conservative data. Although the composition of food in the present model is unchangeable in space and time, this parameter will be made variable and a function of availability of different food items in future versions of the model.

The food coefficients used in the model are also relatively conservative (Table 2). The consumption of pollock and herring by mammals and birds is computed in specific subroutines. The consumption of herring and juvenile pollock by other fish (sablefish, flatfishes, etc.) is not taken into account, therefore, the total biomass of pollock is an underestimate and is considered the "minimum sustainable" biomass. The juvenile pollock biomass growth is decreased in the model when it reaches 3 million metric tons in the eastern Bering Sea. This limitation

Table 1.--Average composition of food for pollock and herring (as used in the model).

Species	Food Items	% by weight
Pollock juveniles	Conenods	30
Torrock, Juvenires	Euphausids "Others"	70 10
Pollock, 25 to 45 cm	Copepods	18
	Euphausids	56
	Herring	10
	Pollock (juvenile)	8
	Benthos	6
	"Others"	2
Pollock >45 cm	Copepods	5
	Euphausids	30
	Herring	10
	Pollock (juveniles)	24
	Pollock (>25 cm)	10
	Benthos	16
	"Others"	5
Herring	Copepods	70
	Euphausids	20
	"Others"	10



Figure 2.--Relation between pollock growth (expressed as fork length) and feeding preferences (Takahashi and Yamaguchi, 1972), (with indication of food composition as used in the model).

Species	Food coefficient for growth	Food for maintenace, % body weight daily		
Species Herring Pollock Gr. 1 Gr. 2 Gr. 3	1:2.0	1.0		
Pollock Gr. 1 Gr. 2 Gr. 3	1:2.2 1:2.0 1:1.9	1.1 1.0 0.93		

Table 2.--Food coefficients for growth and maintenance (as used in the model).

is prescribed on the assumption that availability of food (copepods and euphausids) would become a limiting factor for this population (see further Laevastu, Dunn and Favorite, 1976).

It can be assumed that some "herring" reported in stomach analyses of pollock can be partly capelin and smelt, but very little is known about the abundance and distribution of these two species in the eastern Bering Sea. Therefore, the initial estimate of the herring population size might not reflect fully the true abundance of herring. The "minimum sustainable" herring population for the present model is <u>ca</u> 1.25 million metric tons; however, two different initial assumptions on the size of the herring biomass were used in the model: 1.5 million and 1 million tons.

The catches are computed with spatially and temporally varying fishing intensity coefficients. These coefficients were "tuned" to average annual catch during past few years (1.2 million tons for pollock and <u>ca</u> 50,000 tons for herring). These coefficients were decreased 20% and 50% respectively in other runs to study the effects of different fishing intensity on pollock and herring populations in the eastern Bering Sea.

Each pollock biomass group and herring biomass as a whole were assigned growth coefficients, which were "tuned" to sustain the prescribed biomass sizes (the principle of this computation is described in Laevastu and Favorite, 1976). The growth coefficients used in the present model (Table 3) and mean growth coefficients from actual measurements (Table 4) allow the computation of approximate mean ages of the selected

Species		Growth rate % per month	Mortality rate and/or consumption and remarks
Herring		9.0	Consumption by seals (2 species), birds (2 species), and pollock; fishery
Pollock, g	group 1	9.67	40% of total pollock consumption, 3.35% moved to groups 2 each month.
Ę	group 2	3.3	50% of total consumption, 2.75 moved to group 3 each month; fishery (42% of effort)
٤	group 3	0.8	10% of total consumption, fishery (58% of effort), 1.58 of "natural" mortality

(*.

Table 3.--Bulk growth and mortality rates in % per month (as used in the model).

Note: Bulk growth rate (or biomass growth rate) is only indirectly comparable to individual species growth rate.

Age Interval Years	Herring $\frac{1}{}$	Pollock 2/
1 to 2	6.35 to 7.08	10.83
2 - 3	2.57 to 3.09	5.69
3 - 4	1.74 to 1.88	3.03
4 - 5	1.29 to 1.53	2.14
5 - 6	0.82 to 0.95	1.69
6 - 7	0.82 to 0.99	1.22
7 – 8	0.56 to 0.60	1.20
8 - 9		1.11
9 - 10		0.92

Table 4.--Monthly growth rates in % per month for herring and pollock (actual growth rates as ascertained from literature).

1/ Fast growth in first year (ca 30 g). Upper and lower limits given.

2/ Growth in first year ca 50 g.

Note: Lower growth rate in herring applies to fish which had grown fast in first year and continues to grow fast. size (age) groups. Through considerations of the average age in each group and the removal of fish from these groups by grazing and the fishery, it is possible to compute the approximate transfer of biomass from one group to another due to growth and aging. These transfer coefficients are also given (Table 3).

The biomasses at each grid point in the eastern Bering Sea are altered in weekly time steps with prescribed migration speeds and directions ascertained from numerous descriptive notes in the literature on the seasonal migrations of pollock and herring in the Bering Sea. The growth, grazing, fishery, and "old age" mortality is computed at each grid point in each monthly time step, and the individual biomasses at each grid point are summed each month to compute the total biomass in the eastern Bering Sea. This summation requires the assumption that there are no migrations through the boundaries into and out of the area. The eastern Bering Sea as outlined in the model (Figure 1) can, however, be considered a closed system. In this paper we are dealing mainly with the total biomass in the eastern Bering Sea and a few peculiarities in its spatial distribution. The main consideration centers on the effects of changing fishing effort on pollock, with notes on herring where called for. Further details of the model, not essential to the present paper, are found in Laevastu, Favorite and McAlister, 1976. The model undergoes continued refinements and enlargements, depending on results and research and application requirements.

III. LONG-TERM CHANGES OF POLLOCK BIOMASS IN THE EASTERN BERING SEA AND THE EFFECT OF FISHERY ON THESE CHANGES

The changes of the total biomass of pollock (prefishery as well as exploitable stock) in the eastern Bering Sea during a ten-year period while subjected to 3 fishing efforts is shown (Figure 3): Curve A presents the computation with the present fishing effort (ca 1.25 million caught annually), curve B is obtained using 80% of the present fishing effort, and curve C is obtained using 50% of present fishing effort. The following discussions deal mainly with curves A and C. With the present intensive fishery, the total pollock biomass decreases from about 5.1 million tons ("minimum sustainable" biomass, defined earlier) to about 4 million tons within one year. This decrease is due to two factors: first, removal of medium and large size pollock by fishery (see Figures 5 and 6), and, secondly, to internal model adjustment, as the initial estimate of biomass distribution between different age groups was apparently not in proper balance with prescribed fishery and with internal consumption in the ecosystem. The total pollock biomass remains relatively constant during the second year (Figure 3) with present fishery, whereas the medium size group of pollock still declines (Figure 5) and the size group of older fish shows only slight increase in the second year (Figure 6). The prefishery juvenile group (Figure 4) starts to increase with present fishing effort after the first year. This increase is mainly due to a decrease in cannibalistic grazing on this size group by medium and large size pollock, which decreased during the first year.











Figure 5.--Changes of medium size (25 to 45 cm) pollock biomass in eastern Bering Sea. A. present fishery, B. 80% of present fishing effort, C. 50% of present fishing effort.





The biomass of the juvenile group continues to grow until the end of the third year (Figure 4, curve A), whereafter this biomass remains quasi-constant due to a limit set in the program for its growth. This limit was set with the assumption that availability of food becomes a limiting factor for a large population.

The medium size pollock biomass starts to grow after three years (due to recruitment from juvenile biomass), reaching a quasi-constant level after six years (Figure 5, curve A), whereas the older pollock reaches the quasi-constant level in about six and a half years (Figure 6). The fishery yield (Figure 7, curve A) with present fishing effort decreases considerably in_{v}^{thc} cond year, remains about at the same low level in the third year, and starts to increase thereafter, reaching a quasi-constant level in the sixth year. This level (1.08 million tons) is less that the present fishery (1.25 million tons).

If present fishing effort is decreased by 50%, the model shows that the total biomass of pollock decreases about five and one-half years whereafter an increase sets in (Figure 3, curve C). This initial decrease is due to increased cannibalistic grazing by increased biomass of old pollock (Figure 6, curve C). The increase in old pollock biomass stops after three years (Figure 6) and starts to decrease after three and one-half years due to decreased recruitment from medium size group (Figure 5, curve C). The latter is also decreasing because of decreased recruitment from a decreasing juvenile biomass. The medium size group decreases for about five and one-half years and starts to increase slightly after about seven and one-half years, due to increased recruitment. This





long-period fluctuation with a period of about twelve years seems to be a "natural phenomenon" caused by internal ecosystem dynamics. However, this periodicity is affected by the fishery and probably by other factors, such as by environmental anomalies, as Figures 3 to 6 indicate. The fishery yield with 50% of present fishing effort decreases for seven and one-half years (Figure 7, curve C) and starts to increase thereafter. The pollock biomass changes using 80% of present fishing effort (curve B on Figures 3 to 7) behave analogously to the present fishing effort, except for differences in timing of decrease/increase.

In an earlier study with the present model, Laevastu, Dunn and Favorite (1976) showed that availability of food (copepods and specially euphausids) might be $_{\nu}^{a}$ limiting factor for the size of populations which depend on zooplankton for food. Furthermore, another recent study with the Bulk Biomass model for the eastern Bering Sea (Laevastu and Favorite, 1976) demonstrated that small pelagic fish (herring, capelin, smelt) are very heavily grazed and their availability is also apparently a limiting factor on the size of biomasses of fish (e.g., roundfish) grazing upon them. It will be shown in the next section that the cannibalism in pollock might be one of the causes of differing distributions of juvenile and adult pollock populations. Consequently two suggestions arise from the above results: first, many population sizes and their fluctuations might be caused by grazing intensities on larvae and juvenile populations and the effect of the size of spawning population on subsequent year class strength might be less than generally assumed in earlier population dynamics approaches; second, as the cod and sablefish

in the Bering Sea occupy about the same ecological level and living space as pollock, the population sizes of these species might be controlled by pollock grazing upon juvenile cod and sablefish biomasses. When not in equilibrium, the biomasses of these two species (i.e., pollock and cod) might fluctuate in opposite rhythms.

Several recent studies show that food availability is a limiting factor in gonad development, as well as in reaching maturity, possibly via growth rate as affected by the spatially and temporally varying availability of food (e.g., Fluchter and Trommsdorf, 1966). Thus, two further hypotheses for further studies can be raised: first, that all sexually mature fish might not spawn each year (as known from empirical observations) due to a shortage of food in some areas and times; second, considering the results of the present study, described earlier, it might be postulated that a greater portion of adult pollock might mature earlier (and spawn at a younger age) in the case of intensive pollock fishery, as in this case a greater availability of food for medium size pollock can be expected (i.e., smaller older fish population and greater juvenile population, the latter presenting more and easier prey (cannibalism)). This hypothesis might be studied if sufficient field observations on age and maturity of pollock were available from the 1960's before the intensive pollock fishery.

IV. SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION OF POLLOCK IN THE EASTERN BERING SEA AS AFFECTED BY GRAZING AND FISHERY

The spatial distribution of juvenile and mature pollock in the eastern Bering Sea in February of the first year computations, (Figures 8 and 9), and the distributions of the same age groups of pollock after four years of computations using the present fishing effort (Figures 10 and 11) suggest a number of interesting relations. The center of the juvenile pollock distribution is, after four years, at the continental slope north of the Pribilof Islands (Figure 10), whereas the majority of adults are further offshore (Figure 11), with another, somewhat higher concentration over the central part of the continental shelf. This general distribution of pollock has been confirmed by 1975 eastern Bering Sea baseline studies (see NWAFC Proc. Rpt., 1976), although these results were not available at the time of the preparation of input to this model. The occurrence of juvenile pollock north of the Pribilof Islands has been well documented by Alton (1976). A similar distribution of older pollock with 50% of present fishing effort is shown (Figure 13), and the probable effect of grazing by mammals creating a lower concentration west of and around the Pribilof Islands, is more apparent. The abundance of juvenile pollock in February of the 5th year of computation using 50% of the present fishing effort (Figure 12) is now smaller that that computed for the same time step using the full fishing effort (see Figures 4 and 10), and its center has moved somewhat towards the southeast as compared to the same population with full present fishing effort. Furthermore, the areal extent of the population



Fig. 8--Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 1st year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. . 0. 0. 0 Ô. -0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. · 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0... 0O1 0. 002 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. ٥. 0. 0. 0. ٥. 0. 98. 18003173. 141. 77. 25. 0. 2. 0. 5. 0. 0. 0. 0. 5. 365. 317. 2054_385._319._ 190. 45. 0. 367. 959. 1246. 141504 801. 49905 256. 85. 17. °.06 °. 1. 1. 0. 0. 543. 1516. 1879 2248. 959. _ 868. 701. 375. _ 178. _ 57 07 46. __ 38. _ 11. ٥. 3030 1207. 866. 582 0.315. 555. 0. 652. 1639. 2530. 6440 487. 10. 236. 0. 0. 3560093722. 3192. 2023. 054. 5000 1552. 2575. 837 010238. _04 480. 0 1626. 2488. 3434. 3951. 3786. 3719. 3015.) 649. 1374. 488 .080 2904 - 18453 .432 ... 1396- 2020 2007 - 3052 - 3058. 4624 8442 1117. 1338. 1443. 1335. 0. 923 0. ٥. 0.

Fig. 9--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 1st year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).



Fig. 10--Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 5th year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1. 2. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.. 0. 38. 40. 68 DI 135. 189. 204 D2176. 3. 23. 0. 0. 0. 0. 51. 174. _337 .____ 495 .___ 504 .___ 516 ..___ 404 ... 0. 0. 0. 107. 145. 573 3880. 1845. 1019. 847. 20. 0. 0. 108. 430. 530. 520 - 919. 945 1252. 1030.] 283. .80 . 914, 1362. 1503. 1386Q4 92p. 805Q5127. 766. 240. 0. 84. 10. 1.06 1. 0. 0. 1793 2250. 2032 1450. 569. 767. 1010. 665. 294. 120 07 33. 1. 0. 2423. 2909. 2481. 1518. 434. 426. 41008 225. 257. 188. 55 . -6. 0. 0. 2500, \$310, 3127, 2092, 91058, 906, 781, 178. 123. 134 010 10. \$497. \$275. \$226. 12410. 1508. 1117. 775. 398. 150. 1000 420 00. 0. 30.000 0. 2211. 2840. 2064. 2341. 1635. 1041. 588. 208. 0. 1612. 1992. 2024. 1702. 1191. 693. 2596" -0, 0. 0. 0. 0. 22300-0-02

Fig. 11--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 5th year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).



Fig. 12--Distribution of juvenile pollock in February, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

0. 0. c. 0. ٥. C . . 0. ٥. ٢. 0. 0. ... 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 2. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 'C. 1. 0. 0. 0. 0. · 1 . 20. 40. 41. 10. er. 0. 0. 3. 72 01141. 196. 210-021 **. 25. 0. 1. 0. 3. ٤. ٥. 0. 0. 1. 0. 185. 35 .. #18. FR4. 533. 412. 56. ٥. 0. c. 0. 627 03945. 1114. 1077 AR5. 22. 115. 0. 0. 0. 0. 2 72 0. 2275. 1987. 1387. 1101. 303. ΰ. 115. 45R. 737. 172 R5. 26 1567. 1834. 1701 04384. 1244 03243. PIR. 252. 699. 85. ٩. 1.06 1. 0. Ο. 1487. 1073. 1149. 1144. Sean. 2514. 714. 101. 126 07 31. 1458 0. 1. 847. 716 OB 406. 14. 1204. 3351 2166.1 975 321. 186. 50. -7. 0. 0. 0. 2702 11744. 1414. 317 2646. 3421. 3662. TIME 733. 169. 010 542. 3584. 1597. 1104: 593. +25. 2131. 246. .000 2056 1410. 971. 305. 1041 3191 160. 2194. 1913. 1393. A 20. 0. 0. 0. n 0. 0

Fig. 13--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in February, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

after about four years has shrunk considerably. The shrinking of declining populations towards their centers of main abundance and the first disappearance of "fringe populations" with a dereasing population seems to be a rather common phenomenon, indicated by the model. On the other hand, the model indicates that an increasing populations spreads, an intuitively reasonable occurrence at least to the extent that food and physical environment are not limiting and for which actual examples are available. The latter is partly a mathematical artifact from a Laplacian smoothing operator, but also partly a real consequence of population growth. There have been some observations that pollock have become more abundant in the northern Gulf of Alaska in recent years, which might partly be a consequence of the recent apparent increase of juvenile pollock population in the Bering Sea, as predicted by our model. However, other local factors might determine the fluctuations of pollock population in the Gulf of Alaska, which will be studied with the DYNUMES model when adapted to this area in the future.

The partial separation of juvenile and adult pollock populations already occurs during the summer of the first year's computation (see Figures 14 and 15), whereas on the continental shelf the remaining population has two higher concentrations, one south of the Pribilof Islands, and one about 60°North. After four years of computation with present fishing effort, the separation of juvenile and adult populations is more complete (Figures 16 and 17) despite the fact that both populations are advanced with the same annual migration speed in the model. The distribution of the adult population with 50% of the present fishing effort is about the same as with full fishing effort (Figure 19), but the juvenile population has shrunk somewhat (Figure 18).

0. 0. 0. 0. 0.-820. 684. 447. 204. 0. 31. 0. 0. 814. 983 1258 1356. 1229. 905. 532. 27.0. 104 1. 12/14. 1706. 1994. 1983. 1631.01082. 630. 290.02 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 301 - 1986 2565. 2887. 2657. 1977. 1304 715. 111. 1989 2882. 3627. 0 813. 3209. 2370. 1582. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 688. 1569. 2650. 3736. A616. 4449. 3688. 3088. 2435. 1707. 32. 5045 \$ 5732. 4260 3654. A881. 1876. 197. 806 1778 2968 04422. 1005.0608. 39. 0. ί. 165 . 699. 1595. 2704. 4000 4529. 4142. 4116. 3847 .__ 3136 0 \$037. 901. 283. _0. 122. 537. 1268. 2194. 3197. 2066. 3652 3942. 3505. 2762. 1664. 612. 0. 163. 0. 0. 1641 92336 2923 3131 3064 2396 1704 01009 87-390. \$37 =0 33. 169. 454. 853 1320. 1724. 1976. 1930. 1195 . 00. 0. 10. 0. 0%0 53. 159. 1 333. 546. 752. 591. 770. 31. 72. 121. 180. 224 -0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 922000-0-

Fig. 14--Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 1st year, (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

0. 0. 0. D. .. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. · 0. 0. 0. 170 .__ 107. _19. ____54+-_0. 0. 211-0 390. 321. 212. 116. O. 55. 0. 5. 0. 0. 0. 3. 0. : ._0. 578. 559. 389. 226. 137. 401.01256. 58.02 0. 771. 954. 897. 674. 161. 0. 0. 0. 1. 0. 0. 0. 707. 502. 319. 140, 13. 3533. 428. 555. T 319. 839. 1383. 1518. 0. 03. 0. 0. 0. 226. 1822. 1855 209. 501. 755. 5594. 639. 365. 181. 2227 040202 834.05947. 1097 93. 0628. 0. 168. 686 1507. 705. 358. 175. 1. 7450 ____0. 141. 596. 1356. 121. 17.03% 1150 . 890._ _395. 07210 . 68 458. 1080. 1857 2169. 1679. 1269 0 488. 1073 0. 104. 573. 239. 53. -1. 0. 0. 1396 09979 1966. 1686 74 333. 799 2248 .__ 1125, 528 01042 00 735. 1123. 1466. 1677. 1495. 0. 28. 144. '386. 853 .-. 443, 0. 0. 000 135. 1 293. 465. 640. 759. 45. 61. 103. 153. 191 0. 1. 26. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. ' 0.

Fig. 15--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 1st year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

ω ω

0. 0. 0. 0. 2109. 2103 1611. 799. .89. 169 .9 e___ 461. 3162. 3355. 2833. 1648. 0. 352. 0. fo. ___ 0. ___ 0. ___ 0. ___ 0. ___ 0. 0. 1911./ -9. --1. 1913. 3387. 4967. 607. 0169Q \$166. 3397. 1455 02 13. 0. 0. 5033. 6804. 7717. 7129. 5345. 2785.3 3078 1539 _18a_ 0. 851. 2001. 4199. 601503454. 8816. 7594. 483. 0. 203. 801. 2925. 489 TA 7651 9273. 9304. 8000 60492 3927 _1956. 359. 19810 4 x 8 7 7457 0 9021. 9117. 7875. 5892. 3635. 1714.06011. 142. 0. 0. 0. 3274 7+330 7860 7051 5438 0 3374 1504 1100. 3332. 25 .. 501. ۵. 364. 1793. 2693. 5247 0 929. 5396. 4208. 2501, 940. . 267. 0. 0. 0. 0. 3210- 3756- 3204- 2369 1024. 1999. 509.72hz 59.0. 1262. 1703. 1311. 909 0. 0 ... 0. 72. 000 + .0. 440. 0.

Fig. 16--Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 5th year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. . 0. 0. 198. 625. 636. 562. 0. 406. 829. 824. 748. 595. 342. 70. 2. 0. 0. 0. 1053. 894. 776. 606. 356. 996. 115. 1714. 1324. 1181. 986. 829 01702. 476. 182.02 2. 1. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. Q \$445. 1040 1437. 735. 633. 682. 581. 269. 0. N10 3456. 433. 609. 380. 1497. 1967. 166%. 32. 0. 0. 0. 1217. 2052. 2244. 167231 515. 344. 552. 480. 322. 184. 530, 1531 2378. 2463 406p. 531 5538. 557. 367. 0. 210. 35.06-2. 104. -1. 273. 614 _579. 357. 148. 776. 15. -7. 0. 323. 1005. 1881. 2363. 2049. 1266. 918 0 660. 177. 378. 0. 66. 8. -6. 0. 773. 1447. 1919 2015. 1707. 1214. 220. 383. 141 01021 79. 343. 767. 1180. 1410. 1411. 1223. 820. 0. 344. 125 000 21. 110. 292. 921. 704. 778. 723. 973 ______ 0. 3. 17. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.

Fig. 17--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 5th year (present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

. 0. ٥. v. 6. , U . 0. 0. C . 0. 0. 0. 0. 205. 28. 144. 144. 21. 50. 0. 0. ۰. 1. 0. 119. 0. 115. 440. 1. 764. 0. 0. 0. 0. 340. 0. 0. 0. 267. ō. 224. 609. TPA 632. 2. 0. R92. A322 O 1 637. 1138. 542 02 5. 0. 27A. 829. 0. C . ٥. с. 0. ٥. 0. . 1633. 2007 1PLF. #76 · 10912 184. 0... 7. 0. 0. +0. POSO3 549. 2318. 2405. 0. 192R . 10. 0. ٥. 0. 0. 0. 103A 0. c . 0. (Fe 040. 2000 2730. 2968. 26A1. 1071. 1063. 004 0. 0. 0. 0. R#2 05 902. 2698. 2968. 2646. 182P. 17 O6326. 75. C . 100. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1201 1075 2427. 2306 7434. 179. 261 0. 0. 480081141. 1573. 1607. 1124 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 458. 132. 0. 0. 10 0. 0. 600 ٥. n. 464 735 784 010415 ù. . 0. 10. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0.1 7. 133. 186 00. 0. 000 · :0. ¢ . э. 0. 1 0. ٥. 0. 0. э. 0 0. 0 0 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. с. с. 0. ٥. 0. 0. 0.

Fig. 18--Distribution of juvenile pollock in August, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

.0. 0. .. 0. 0. 0. 0. C. 0. 5115. 607. 524. 367. 173. 21. 3. 34. 1. ٥. 871. 723. 0. A33. 551. 304. 6. 58. 1. 0.1 0. 0. 0. 0. 990 1093. 104.1. 397. 0. \$10. 746. 548. 97. 1. 1.-1249. 1398. 1286. 1072. P56.01649. 427. 159.02 2. 0. 4. 0. 0. 0. 0. 1478. 1177 1590. 1028. 820. 732. 5*3. 0. 244. с. 0. 0. Tazo. 1130 0 3771. 437. 654. 374. 0. 1517. 2046. 0. 0. 0. 1224. 2005. 2404. 2007. 050. 447. 706. 538. 331. 0. 1#1. 74. 537 1542. 2418. 2035 04421. 0. 982.05880. 717. 447. 247. 115. 33. OF4. -1. 452. 1179. 12AZ. 2636. 1066 1240. 969. 763. 458. 205. 0797. C. 19. -7 0. 325. 1076. 1015. 2431. 2274. 1074. 1772. 08772. č. 489. 230. 85. 12. -5. 0. 0. 741. 1472. 1963 QOR(1824. 1970. 190. 449. 172.01027. 271. HU. 347. 778. 1201. 1441. 1444. 1960 P56. 2. 364. 0. 000 111. 296. . 92. 715. 701. 22. 735. 679 ٥. ο. 59. 124. 191. 235. 229 0. 18. 3. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 2300 0. . 0.

Fig. 19--Distribution of old (>45 cm) pollock in August, 5th year (50% of present fishing effort) (tons/km²).

V. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN HERRING AND POLLOCK POPULATIONS

The model was run with two herring biomasses; one, which was slightly below the minimum sustainable biomass (i.e., 1 million tons), and the other somewhat above it (<u>ca</u> 1.5 million tons), (see Figure 20). The changes in both herring biomasses with time and with different fishing effort on pollock (but constant fishing effort on herring) during the first two years of computation (Figure 20) indicate that the herring biomass remains higher using the present (higher) fishing effort on pollock (curves marked A) than with the lower (50% of present) fishing effort on pollock (curves marked C). The cause of this difference is the increased grazing by older age pollock on herring, as the biomass of the older pollock group is higher during the first five years (see Figure 6, curve C) with lower fishing effort.

Assuming a high initial herring population, this population increases with time, until food availability becomes limiting. However, a lower than "minimum sustainable" biomass (lower curves on Figure 20) continues to decline due to ecosystem internal grazing.

The areal distribution of herring in December of the first year of computation, (Figure 21) and the distribution of herring in January of the fifth year (with declining population, initial population 1 million tons) with present fishing intensity and 50% of present fishing intensity on pollock respectively (Figures 22 and 23), indicate different distributions which are caused by different grazing pollock populations. The last distribution (Figure 23) shows the herring distributions shrinking to two centers, one south of the Pribilof Islands and the other at about 60^{0} North. The area near the continental shelf north of Pribilof Islands



Figure 20.--Changes of "herring" biomass in eastern Bering Sea. A. present fishery on pollock; B. 80% of present fishing effort on pollock; C. 50% of present fishing effort on pollock.

0. 0. 1. 1. 1. 1. 0. 0. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 0. 0. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 0. 0. 2. 2. . 2. 2. 2. **C**. 1. ٢. 1. 0. с. 0. C. 2. 2. 12. 40. 20. 1. 2. 2. ċ. C . 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 22501 77. 102 1. 325. 751. · 3. 1. 144. 301. 0. 0. 0. 0. G. C. 1109. 854. 493. 164. 10100 3. 1. 0. 0. c. 0. 0. fC 5 40. 31811. 1225 0. 674. 1/64. 1722. 0. 0. 0. C. 545. 131. 1912. 259 2733. 2207. 1108. 353. 20. 0. 2. . 2. 254. 668. 1450. 23204345. re105, 110. 1010. 441. 142. 1. C. 1.06 1. 2. 667. 1551. 26 77. 2123. 2776. 1605. 1144. 570 O7165. 7. 143. e. 14. 0. 554. 1634. 2436. 27450 2447. 1756. 1032. 422. 7. 13. 17. 116. 0. ć. i. Ú. 109 306. 1430. 1875. 2101. 1802. 1100 12. 17. 10 44. 6. 9. . 18. 167. 7455 1222. 127 0. 11. . 16. 16. 5. ٥. >378.00 76. 300. 12. + 15. 15. 13. 0. 4. 8. 0. 0. 2. 0. 7.. 0. Ċ. And GARHO 0. 0. -0. 10. 0. 0. 10. 0.

Fig. 21--Herring distribution in December, 1st year (present fishing effort on pollock, initial biomass 1 million tons) (tons/km²).

.. 0. 2. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. ú. ٤, 0. 45. 30. 3. 4. 3. 0. c. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. . 17. 15. 53. 16. 2. с. C., с. 0. 0. C. ٤. . ل с. 5. 0. 54. 3. 3. 3. 0. 0. 17. 13. 1. 2. 0. 0. 0. 7.0112. 16. 023. 15. 10. 1. 3. 16. 0. G. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 37. 0. ---6. 15. 27. 38 . 28. 0. 42. 0. 0. C. 0. Ú. 71. + 59 ٥. 42.0361. 72. 1. e. 0. 0. 19. C. 24. 43. 80. A9. 0. 6. 5171 75. 27. 7. 3.. 94.04 94 0. 34. F5 . P9. 0593. 64. 25 . 11. °. 06°. 5. 0. 050 106. 77 36 . 21. 07 9. 0. 57. 91. 102. 84.-73. 0. 0. 2. ο. .05 102. 78.08 55. 40. 112. 1 70. 0. £4 . 76. 440 31 . 14. 1. 4. 0.1 0.1 56. F9. 107. 103-09/87. 91. 1 28.010. 35. C. υ. 74. + 51. 40. . 46. 90. 97. 30. 77. 0. .56. 0. 1000 76. 31. 40. 61. 76. he. 620 23. 0. 0 0. 26. 39. 45. 51. 34. 17 0. 0. 0. (. 0. 50800 0. . 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. c.

Fig. 22--Herring distribution in January, 5th year (present fishing effort on pollock, initial biomass 1 million tons) (tons/km²).



Fig. 23--Herring distribution in January, 5th year, 50% of present fishing effort on pollock (initial biomass 1 million tons)(tons/km²).

is nearly void of herring according to this computational result. This, and other indications from model results, suggest that the near disappearance of shrimp stock north of the Pribilof Islands might have been caused partly by grazing by pollock, after the pollock had grazed down the local herring population, even though Bakkala, Kessler and MacIntoch (1976) suggest environmental changes as a probable cause. These shrimp stocks were also very heavily exploited by Japan, (catches of about 30 K mt in 1963 to only a trace by 1968). It is difficult to observe the fluctuations in abundance of herring in the eastern Bering Sea from catch data, as the catch of this species is very small in relation to the population size (ca 5% removed annually by fishery).

Finally, it should be emphasized that the primary use of model studies is to raise suggestions for research, indicate priorities, and provide verification and testing of hypotheses which find applications either in science or in practice. The numerous tentative conclusions presented in this paper should be treated as suggestions, unless supported by empirical evidence and/or verified by further research.

VI. SUMMARY

An 8-component submodel of the DYNUMES model was used to investigate some aspects of pollock and herring biomass dynamics in the eastern Bering Sea that cannot be studied with single-species population dynamics models. The initial January distribution of both fish stocks was prescribed. Thereafter, the biomasses were moved numerically around in the Bering Sea in conformance to known seasonal migrations. The growth, grazing, and fishery loss was computed in monthly time steps for 10 years. Model runs using the present exploitation level, as well as decreased fishing intensities, were computed for the study of the effects of fishery on these two species biomasses. The following tentative conclusions were reached:

1. Because older pollock consume juveniles (cannibalism), the dynamics of the pollock population depends greatly on the size of the older pollock biomass, which, if large, can suppress the juvenile biomass by grazing.

2. The interactions between the cannibalism and the different growth rates of different age groups of the biomass can cause long-term fluctuations in the pollock biomass. The present results indicate that the period of this long-term fluctuation is about 12 years and that the fishery can affect this periodicity.

3. The present intense fishery on pollock removes part of the older, cannibalistic part of the biomass and decreases therewith grazing pressure on the faster growing juvenile biomass, thus causing an increase in biological production (growth) of total pollock biomass

in the eastern Bering Sea. With present fishing effort (intensity) the "minimum sustainable" (defined in text) biomass of pollock decreases in the first year to slightly above 4 million tons and increases thereafter, reaching 5.7 million tons after 4 years. Subsequently the limitation of growth of the juvenile biomass (programmed in the model to limit the growth of juvenile biomass when this becomes large and would be limited by the availability of food) becomes effective.

4. With a lower than present fishing effort on pollock, the older fish biomass increases relative to the juvenile and medium-age pollock biomass, but total pollock biomass decreases. With 50% lower fishing effort from present, the total pollock biomass decreases for 6 years, reaching a level slightly below 2 million tons before it starts to increase again. The details of the fluctuation of intensively fished and slightly fished pollock populations changes with time are as follows:

a. The size change of total pollock population is dependent on the size of the juvenile population from which the older groups recruit their growth. The juvenile population is affected by grazing by other ecological groups (mammals, birds, sablefish, etc.) as well as by cannibalism within the pollock population. On the other hand, cannibalism is a function of the size of the older age group pollock population which obtains more than 50% of its food requirements by feeding on juvenile pollock (see Figure 2).

b. If intense fishing is conducted (<u>ca</u> 1.25 million tons a year, approximately the present fishery) the oldest pollock are removed rapidly (within about one year) and the medium-sized (25 to 45 cm) pollock

population is decreased by fishery within the first 3 years. The juvenile (pre-fishery) population starts to increase after 1 year and reaches its highest level in 4 years (food availability as a population limiting factor comes into effect thereafter). This juvenile population increase is principally due to faster growing rates of juveniles (see Table 3) and decreased grazing pressure (cannibalism) by lowering the biomass of older fish by the fishery. Due to higher level recruitment from the increasing juvenile (pre-fishery) stock, the medium and older stock also increase slightly after the third year; the medium-sized stock reaching a quasi-equilibrium state in 4¹/₂ years and the older in 6 years.

c. If less intense fishing is conducted (50% of present fishing effort), the initially prescribed juvenile population decreases for 5½ years, after which it starts to increase again suggesting a long period fluctuation. This decrease is due to the presence of older (longer than 45 cm) pollock that are assumed to be highly cannibalistic (see Table 1) on juveniles. The population of the older fish increases the first 3 years and starts to decrease thereafter due to decreased recruitment from juveniles (and from previous year classes, i.e., medium-sized pollock). The medium-sized pollock (25 to 45 cm) decreases for 6½ years, after which it starts to increase slightly. This decrease/ increase is due to corresponding changes in abundances of juveniles from which the recruitments come to this group, thus, the changing size (age) composition reflects the state of the pollock stock and can be used as a predictor of its future dynamics.

d. With constant present fishing effort, landings are decreased during the first year due to removal of older (larger) fish (in our model from 1.25 million tons to .78 million tons in second and third year). Thereafter, the yield increases (to about 1 million ton) remaining relatively steady thereafter. The quasi-steady state is caused by assumption in the model that there is a limit to the size of juvenile population (food availability and grazing as limiting factors).

e. Decreasing the present fishing intensity by 50%, the catches decreased steadily from 0.75 to 0.25 million tons in the sixth year and remained quasi-steady thereafter. Decreasing the present fishing intensity by only 20% the catches decreased in the second year to about 0.75 million tons and started to increase in the third year, reaching a level of <u>ca</u> 0.9 million tons in the seventh year.

5. The numerical ecosystem submodel indicates that in addition to grazing, the availability of food seems to be a limiting factor for younger, large populations of pollock. The grazing and competition for food might be a plausible explanation why cod and sablefish populations are only a fraction of ^{#/e} pollock population, although these species are on the same ecological level as the pollock. It might be possible that due to ecosystem internal competition for food and grazing on each others juveniles, the pollock population on the one hand and cod and sablefish populations on the other hand, fluctuate in opposite rhythm. This will be investigated in future models in which these species will also be included.

6. As several recent tank tests show that food is a limiting factor in gonad development (e.g., Flüchter and Trommsdorf, 1974), as well as in reaching maturity, (via growth rate as affected by availability of food), it might be postulated that a greater proportion of adults mature earlier in the case of intensive pollock fishery (influenced by greater availability of food for medium-sized pollock via cannibalism) than in cases of no or little fishery. This might be studied (verified) by available data .

7. Heavy grazing by mammals (fur seal and sea lion) that removes at least as much pollock as the present fishery, causes an apparent bipartition in distribution of older pollock populations. This distribution gives an appearance of two separate populations in the Bering Sea where possibly only one exists. The bulk of the juveniles, however, is located during summer in the areas of lower concentration of older adults, thus decreasing the possibility of cannibalistic grazing.

8. The shifts in abundance of various age groups of pollock can cause changes in grazing pressure on herring and thus cause fluctuations in herring abundance. The fringe populations of herring seem to be grazed first and the population shrinks, according to the model results, towards the center of its abundance.

9. The "shrinking" of juvenile pollock population towards its mass center is also shown by the model. This shrinking occurs when juvenile population is low in relation to adult population. On the other hand, spreading of juveniles occurs when population is high. This might partly explain the observed greater abundance of pollock in the Gulf of Alaska in recent years. However, the Gulf of Alaska pollock population might be controlled by local factors, which will be investigated with another DYNUMES model in the future.

10. With high fishing intensity on pollock, the herring population increased in the model. The increase was less with lower fishing intensity on pollock, and there was a decrease in herring population in the absence of a pollock fishery, although the latter result is not shown on the figures. This change in the herring population in the model is caused by ecosystem internal grazing. If a lower initial herring population is selected, it decreases, but decreases slower with an intensive fishery on pollock than with less intensive pollock fishery. Thus, an intensive pollock fishery seems to be beneficial to the herring population according to our present model.

11. There are other small pelagic fish besides herring (capelin and smelt) in the Bering Sea which serve as ^Afood source for pollock. Their abundance and distribution is at present little known. It can be postulated that as shrimp is also an important food item for medium and large sized pollock, its disappearance north of the Pribilof Islands in the late 1960's might have been influenced by the recent increase of the pollock population (increased grazing) brought about by the increased fishery in the mid-1960's.

The above are interim conclusions which might be modified in continued research and improvement of the model. The quantitative results are expected to change slightly when better food coefficients and time/space varying food composition of the species can be introduced into the improved model. However, most of the trends and qualitative results indicated above are expected to remain unchanged.

VII. REFERENCES

Alton, M.S.

1976. Discussion. In: Demersal fish and shellfish resources of

the eastern Bering Sea in the baseline year 1975, NWAFC Proc. Rpt. Bakkala, R.G., D.W. Kessler and R.A. MacIntosh.

1976. History of commercial exploitation of demersal fish and shellfish in the eastern Bering Sea. In: Demersal fish and shellfish resources of the eastern Bering Sea in the baseline year 1975, NWAFC Proc. Rpt.

Fluchter, J. and H. Trommsdorf.

1974. Nutritive simulation of spawning in common sole (Solea,

solea L.) Ber. Dtch. Wiss. Komm. Meeresforsch. 23:352-359.

Laevastu, T., J. Dunn and F. Favorite.

1976. Consumption of copepods and euphausids in the eastern Bering Sea as revealed by a numerical ecosystem model. ICES, CM1976/L:34 (MS Rpt.).

Laevastu, T., F. Favorite and W.B. McAlister.

1976. A dynamic numerical marine ecosystem model for evaluation

of marine resources in the eastern Bering Sea. NWAFC Proc. Rpt. Laevastu, T. and F. Favorite.

1976. Evaluation of standing stocks of resources in the eastern

Bering Sea. NWAFC Proc. Rpt.

Northwest and Alaska Fisheries Center.

1976. Demersal fish and shellfish resources of the eastern Bering

Sea in the baseline year 1975. NWAFC Proc. Rpt.

Takahashi, Y. and H. Yamaguchi

1972. Stock of the Alaska pollock in the eastern Bering Sea. Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish. 38(4):383-399.